IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PROVIDED TO MAYO C.I. ON
12-29-10
MAW
INITIALS

MARCO NORDELO,
Petitioner,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

Case No: _____

SC11-23

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL
2011 JAN -3 PM 1:45
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

**DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA,
THIRD DISTRICT**

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

Marco Nordelo
DC# 065315
Mayo Correctional Institution
8784 West U.S. Hwy. 27
Mayo, Florida 32066

Petitioner, *pro se*

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Marco Nordelo, seeks review of the Third District's majority opinion affirming the trial court's summary denial of Nordelo's rule 3.850 motion for new trial based on newly discovered evidence in the form of testimony of co-defendant who previously refused to testify.

Mr. Nordelo's trial commenced on April 1, 1991. On the same day, the co-defendant Angel Lopez, plead guilty to the armed robbery charge in exchange for a twenty-five (25) year prison sentence (R. 2).

Before Lopez accepted the plea, Nordelo's defense counsel, Mr. Casabielle, stated to the court and to the state that he will be including Lopez as a witness for the defense and asked for time aside to speak with Lopez. (T. 9-19). Counsel was later given the opportunity to speak with Lopez. Lopez refused to testify (R. 47). The jury found Nordelo guilty of the armed robbery and he was sentenced to life in prison. (R. 8).

The evidence at trial was as follows:

Petitioner Marco Nordelo and co-defendant Angel Lopez were charged with holding up a Circle K convenience store on May 29, 1990. They took money from the cash register and the attendant. The clerk of the Circle K Convenience store, Francisco Benavider, immediately contacted the police when the assailants fled the store. As he was dialing "911" he noticed a white car at the end of the street,

which he believed was driven by the perpetrators (T. 149-150). Mr. Benavider identified Mr. Nordelo from a photographic lineup about one month after the robbery (T. 148). Officer Julio Pino's testimony was introduced as collateral crime evidence to help prove identity. He testified that he was involved in a high speed car chase with Nordelo and as a result he arrested him. The defense counsel objected, but was overruled. The officer said that the defendant was driving "a white Ford Taurus station wagon." The defendant crashed the car and the officer identified Mr. Nordelo as the driver and indicated that there was another person in the car (T. 180-181). There was no physical evidence tying Mr. Nordelo to the crime scene. The state's case against Mr. Nordelo was predicated solely on the victim's identification one month after the robbery, and the fact that Nordelo was arrested with Lopez the day after the robbery in a white car.

On direct appeal, the Third District court held that the collateral evidence should have been excluded. Nordelo v. State, 603 So.2d 36, 38 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992).

The District court, however, determined that the error was harmless and affirmed Mr. Nordelo's conviction for one count of armed robbery. *Id.* at 38.

Nordelo's identity was an issue at trial. Brief of Appellee, Nordelo v. State, No. 91-1163 (Fla. 3rd DCA filed Jan. 17, 1992).

In 2007, Angel Lopez for the first time admitted that Mr. Nordelo was not

involved in the robbery on May 29, 1990. In a sworn affidavit he stated that the co-perpetrator was Jose Sanchez. In his affidavit Lopez also admitted that the day after the robbery, May 30, 1990, Lopez stole a white Ford station wagon from a gas station and later picked up Mr. Nordelo. (R. 47). This was the white car that Mr. Nordelo was driving when he was arrested. Lopez was never charged with the auto-theft. Police records show conclusively that the white Ford (Florida tag number GTL07G) was stolen the day after the robbery and thus could not have been the getaway car. Brief of Appellant at p. 4.

Mr. Nordelo filed a motion for postconviction relief predicated on a theory of newly discovered evidence. The affidavit from Lopez, exonerating Mr. Nordelo and stating that he took the plea and then refused to testify, was attached to the motion. The motion explained that because Lopez had been charged as a co-defendant in 1990 and was unwilling to exculpate Mr. Nordelo, Mr. Nordelo's counsel could not have compelled Lopez's admission. As a result, the evidence was undiscoverable and unavailable until Lopez voluntarily confessed several years later about who were the actual perpetrators. (R. 26-55).

The trial court ordered the state to respond to Nordelo's claims (R. 48-55), and held a hearing. At the hearing the state said that it will file a copy of the entire trial transcript, but did not do so. (R. 63-73).

The trial court summarily denied Mr. Nordelo's claim as follows:

“The Court is finding that the evidence as to both counts is not newly discovered and could have been obtained through due diligence.” (R. 57).

The order then directed the clerk of the court “to attach all necessary record excerpts from the court file that support the court’s ruling in this matter.” *Id.* The court did not state a rationale for its denial or attached record excerpts refuting the claims.

Mr. Nordelo appealed to the Third District Court citing Brantley v. State, 912 So.2d 342 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2005), for the proposition that evidence can be treated as newly discovered where it is “based on testimony of co-defendants who previously refused to testify.” The District Court rebutted by saying that Nordelo failed to allege in his motion that he ever, in seventeen years, asked his co-defendant to testify. Majority op. At 4-5. The majority also concluded that Nordelo’s claim is both, invalid on its face and conclusively refuted by the record. Judge Cope dissented to the denial of Nordelo’s claim concluding that under established precedent, the rule 3.850 motion is legally sufficient and the matter should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.

Alternatively, as suggested by the state, any affirmance should be with leave to amend the rule 3.850 motion. *See, Nordelo v. State*, 35 Fla.L.Weekly D2260 (Fla. 3rd DCA Oct. 13, 2010). On October 28, 2010, Nordelo filed a motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc, which was denied on November 18, 2010.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's summary denial of Mr. Nordelo's postconviction motion for new trial as well as the District Court's opinion affirming its denial must be reversed and this case remanded for an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Nordelo's co-defendant, Angel Lopez, broke his silence after many years and furnished the defendant with an affidavit which exonerates Mr. Nordelo from having any involvement in the robbery. Defense attorney tried to obtain this information, but Lopez refused to testify at trial. Nordelo substantially complied with the rule by attaching co-defendant's affidavit which contained the substance of his testimony. The state has not produced, and the trial court has not heard, any prior inconsistent statements by Lopez that contradict his sworn statement that Jose Sanchez, not Mr. Nordelo, was the second assailant. In reviewing the trial court's summary denial of postconviction relief, the District Court must accept the defendant's allegations as true to the extent that they are not conclusively refuted by the record. Florida Supreme Court's case law indicates that where the existence of newly discovered evidence has been pled, and there is a question whether the defendant exercised due diligence, the proper procedure is to conduct an evidentiary hearing at which evidence will be taken on the due diligence issue, as well as the other issues presented. Alternatively, as suggested by the state, any affirmance should be with leave to amend the rule 3.850 motion.

ARGUMENT

THIRD DISTRICT'S AFFIRMANCE WITH OPINION CONTRAVENE THE APPLICABLE APPELLATE STANDARD OF REVIEW OF A TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF A 3.850 MOTION ON SEVERAL ASPECTS

The majority opinion affirmed the trial court's summary denial on dual grounds that it was legally insufficient and conclusively refuted by the record. Majority op. At 7.

This ruling is in express and direct conflict with the decision of the Second District court in Gatlin v. State, 24 So.3d 743 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2009), which held that:

“Remand was required of trial court’s denial of defendant’s postconviction claims on dual grounds that they were legally insufficient and refuted by the record, for trial court to determine whether each claim was legally insufficient or refuted by the record, as effect of rulings was significant, in that denial or dismissal based on insufficiency of pleadings was not a ruling on the merits, such that defendant will be allowed to re-plead, whereas a denial based on record attachments was a ruling on the merits.” Id.

Where defendant’s initial motion for postconviction relief is determined to be legally insufficient for failure to meet either the postconviction relief rules or other pleading requirements, the trial court abuses its discretion when it fails to allow defendant at least one opportunity to amend the motion. Spera v. State, 971 So.2d 754 (Fla. 2007). To support summary denial without a hearing, a trial court

must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion. Hoffman v. State, 571 So.2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990)(Hoffman I).

In Nordelo's case, the Third District affirmed the trial court's summary denial on dual grounds that it was legally insufficient, without an opportunity to re-plead, and that it was conclusively refuted by the record, without a clear trial record basis identified by the trial court or a stated rationale in its order.

This basis for summary denial also misapplied the Florida Supreme Court's precedent in Foster v. State, 810 So.2d 910, 914 (Fla. 2002), and Peede v. State, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999), as to the proper standard of appellate review.

"To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be [either] facially insufficient [or] conclusively refuted by the record.

FURTHER, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, we must accept the Defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record."

Foster, *id.*

Co-defendant Lopez states in his affidavit that he "did not come forward with this information (exonerating Nordelo) sooner, as I was afraid that the office of the state attorney would take away my plea offer. I took the plea and then refused to testify. I was ignorant of the law and was afraid that if I had not cooperated with the state attorney, then my plea would have been refused." (R. 47).

For pleading purposes, the District court is required to accept that statement as true.

The majority opinion says that this statement is nonsensical. Majority op. at 5. Although Lopez's belief may seem unreasonable to a legal expert, it was what he believed at the time, and the District court was required to accept the proposition that the defendant did not know the law—which is what his affidavit says—and believed that any cooperation would jeopardize his plea. He states that he refused to testify. Lopez's affidavit is not inherently incredible. Lopez admitted his involvement in the robbery, identified the actual co-perpetrator and explained how and why he and Mr. Nordelo were together when they were arrested. It is also not the case that Lopez's statement was immaterial to the verdict. Mr. Nordelo was identified by the victim from a photographic line-up which was administered one month after the robbery. There was no physical evidence tying Mr. Nordelo to the crime scene (e.g., fingerprints, video, etc...). Therefore, Lopez's exculpation of Mr. Nordelo cannot be deemed irrelevant to the outcome of the trial. In this case, because there was no evidentiary hearing to determine the truthfulness of Lopez's statements, the standard of review set forth by the Supreme Court in *Foster* and *Peede* required the Third District to accept the allegations of Lopez's affidavit as true. Instead, the District Court made a credibility determination that Lopez's statements are nonsensical. This basis for

summary denial is in conflict with the standard set forth in *Foster* and *Peede Id.*, which held that where no evidentiary hearing is held below, defendant's factual allegations must be accepted to the extent they are not refuted by the record.

The majority opinion also conflicts with Jacobs v. State, 880 So.2d 548 (Fla. 2004), where the Supreme Court held that "when determining the facial sufficiency of a motion for postconviction relief, the court does not examine the record for evidence refuting the claim, disapproving of Cooley v. State, 642 So.2d 108 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994), to the extent it may be construed to hold that the facial sufficiency of the motion may be determined based on an examination of the record to refute the claim.

In affirming the trial court's summary denial as legally insufficient, the majority opinion relied upon the "overwhelming evidence against the defendant" a clear indication that the court had reviewed not only facial sufficiency of the claim itself, but also the record of the trial. Majority op. at 7.

Further, the mere existence of evidence of guilt is insufficient to conclusively rebut a claim of newly discovered evidence in the form of statement from co-defendant exonerating the defendant and naming the actual co-perpetrator. Rather, the record evidence must conclusively rebut the claim if the claim is to be resolved without an evidentiary hearing. For example, if the record demonstrated that Lopez had actually testified, the claim would obviously be conclusively

rebutted.

The majority opinion ruled that in Nordelo's case, "an evidentiary hearing is not required here: one is required, if at all, for the sole purpose of allowing the trial court to determine whether the newly discovered evidence is of "such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Jones, 591 So.2d at 915. Majority op. at 6.

This ruling is in express and direct conflict with Davis v. State, 26 So.3d 519 (Fla. 2009), where the court held:

"...the determination of whether the statements [which constitute the newly discovered evidence] are true and meet the due diligence and probability prongs of *Jones II* usually requires an evidentiary hearing to evaluate credibility unless the affidavit is inherently incredible or obviously immaterial to the verdict and sentence."

The *Davis* court noted:

"The postconviction trial court's first and primary substantive pleading basis for denying relief was that Davis failed to properly plead due diligence. This was in error. Under the first prong of *Jones II*, the statements made during the *Huff* hearing in conjunction with the assertions in the motion established a prima facie case of diligence sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing.

Similarly, counsel's statements made during the hearing that Lopez refused to testify when asked by trial counsel (MR. Casbielle) in combination with Nordelo's assertions that Lopez could not be compelled to testify and Lopez's allegations that he took the plea and then refused to testify established a prima facie case of diligence.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments, and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to grant jurisdiction on this cause.