#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-23

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. DCA: 3D09-1269

### MARCO NORDELO,

Petitioner,

-VS-

### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION**

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN Criminal Appeals, Bureau Chief Florida Bar Number 230987

NICHOLAS MERLIN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0029236 Criminal Appeals Unit 444 Brickell Avenue, #650 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## **Procedural History**

The Petitioner, Marco Nordelo, seeks review in this Court following the Third District Court of Appeal's affirmance of the trial court's order denying his post-conviction motion based on newly discovered evidence. The pertinent facts as found by the district court were as follows:

Nineteen years ago, a jury found Marco Nordelo guilty of armed robbery of a convenience store and sentenced him to life in prison as a habitually violent offender. Before Nordelo's trial began, his codefendant entered a plea of no contest and was sentenced to twenty-five years in state prison.

Two years ago, Nordelo filed a Motion for New Trial Based on Newly Discovered Evidence and Prosecutorial Misconduct Pursuant to Rule 3.850. Attached to the motion was an affidavit from Nordelo's codefendant, a nineteen-time convicted felon, alleging that Nordelo had not participated in the robbery and naming a different coperpetrator. The codefendant claimed that he did not come forward with this information sooner because he was afraid that the State would take away his plea offer.

At a hearing on the motion, the trial court ruled that "[t]he evidence could have been obtained through due diligence simply" and that just because the codefendant's custodial status changed and he "decided to come forward does not render the evidence newly discoverable." The trial court entered a written order "finding that the evidence as to both counts is not newly discovered and could have been obtained through due diligence" and that the allegation of prosecutorial misconduct was successive to one of Nordelo's prior Motions for Post-Conviction relief. The order directed the clerk to attach necessary record excerpts from the file to support the ruling. Nordelo now appeals the part of the trial court's order denying his motion for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, arguing that the case must be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.

Nordelo v. State, 47 So. 3d 854, 856 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010).

The Third District affirmed the trial court's summary denial, noting that the Petitioner had not satisfied the requirements for newly discovered evidence as set forth in *Jones v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998); *see also Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger*, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1324-25 (Fla. 1994); *McLin v. State*, 827 So. 2d 948, 956 (Fla. 2002). The Third District distinguished the Petitioner's case from those situations involving the prior refusal of a witness to testify or the recantation of a codefendant. Further, under the applicable case law concerning summary denial of post-conviction motions, the Third District held the Petitioner's allegations were facially insufficient and conclusively refuted by the record. 47 So. 3d at 856-58.

Judge Cope filed a dissenting opinion, arguing that the Petitioner's post-conviction motion was legally sufficient and should either have been remanded for an evidentiary hearing or affirmed with leave to amend the motion. *Nordelo*, 47 So. 3d at 858-62. On October 28, 2010, following the Third District's affirmance, the Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing/motion for rehearing en banc, which was denied on November 18, 2010. The Petitioner now seeks discretionary review in this Court on the basis of conflict jurisdiction, and the State has filed this Brief.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal does not expressly and directly conflict with the cases cited by the Petitioner.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT APPEAL BELOW IS NOT IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE HOLDINGS IN *GATLIN v. STATE*, 24 So. 3d 743 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009); *SPERA v. STATE*, 971 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 2007); *HOFFMAN v. STATE*, 571 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1990); *FOSTER v. STATE*, 810 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 2002); *PEEDE v. STATE*, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999); *JACOBS v. STATE*, 880 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 2004); AND *DAVIS v. STATE*, 26 So. 3d 519 (Fla. 2009).

As a general rule, conflict jurisdiction exists when a decision of a court of appeal expressly and directly conflicts with another court of appeal or the Florida Supreme Court "on the same question of law." Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). "Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction." *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); *see also The Florida Bar v. B.J.F.*, 530 So. 2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988). A dissenting opinion, even though it represents the opinion of at least one member of the panel, cannot be considered because it is not the opinion of the court and therefore has no precedential value.

In this case, the Petitioner's jurisdictional brief relies on the conclusion in Judge Cope's dissent, alleging that his case should either have been remanded for an evidentiary hearing or affirmed with leave to amend the motion. The Petitioner alleges that this Court has jurisdiction because the Third District's majority opinion

conflicts with, or misapplies, the holdings in *Spera*, *Gatlin*, *Hoffman*, *Foster*, and *Peede*.

Under *Spera*, a defendant who files an insufficient motion under Rule 3.850 should be given at least one opportunity to correct the deficiency, unless it is apparent that the defect cannot be corrected. *Spera*, however, explains that an amended post-conviction motion is unnecessary where a defendant's allegations are conclusively refuted by the record. Likewise, a post-conviction motion can be amended but only in good faith. 971 So. 2d at 761-62; *see also Gatlin*, 24 So. 3d at 745 (citing *Spera*).

The holding in *Hoffman* explains that where a defendant's post-conviction motion is summarily denied, without a hearing, a trial court must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion. 571 So. 2d at 450. Likewise, *Foster* and *Peede* provide that in order "[t]o uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. Further, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, [a reviewing court] must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record." *Foster*, 810 So. 2d at 914 (citing *Peede*, 748 So. 2d at 257).

In the instant case, the Third District noted that the Petitioner had argued that the trial judge erred in failing to attach portions of the record to her order in

contravention of Rule 3.850(d). However, the majority explained that "that portion of Rule 3.850(d) regards only those instances when the denial is not predicated on the legal insufficiency of the motion on its face." *Nordelo*, 47 So. 3d at 858.

The majority in *Nordelo* also explained that under *Peede*, the Petitioner's claims were either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record: First, the affidavit provided no information that neither the Petitioner nor his counsel could have discovered at the time of trial through the exercise of due diligence. Second, the State's evidence at trial included the victim's identification of both defendants from photo lineups with one hundred percent certainty. Further, the codefendant, Lopez, claimed that he (Lopez) was the driver of the white car in which he and the Petitioner had been stopped, while the record showed that the arresting officer testified – and the Petitioner had never disputed – that the Petitioner was driving at the time of his arrest. *Nordelo*, 47 So. 3d at 858. Thus, as the Petitioner's claims were invalid or refuted under the applicable standards, and as the majority applied those principles to the Petitioner's motion, there was no express and direct conflict.

The Petitioner, nevertheless, argues that under *Foster* and *Peede*, the Third District misapplied this Court's precedent because the court was required to accept as true Lopez's allegation in the affidavit that he was ignorant of the law and afraid that his plea would be "taken away" by the State if he testified. Here, however, the State notes that *Foster* and *Peede* require a court to accept a defendant's factual

allegations but only "to the extent they are not refuted by the record." *Foster*, 810 So. 2d at 914.

In the instant case, the Third District's majority opinion alluded to the fact that the trial court had already accepted Lopez's plea and sentenced him before the Petitioner's trial began. *Nordelo*, 47 So. 3d at 856. The plea neither required Lopez to testify for the State nor to refrain from testifying for the Petitioner. *Id.* at 857. In addition, neither the Petitioner nor his codefendant had alleged in the motion or affidavit that they were coerced or threatened by anyone, including the State. Id. Thus, even if it was true that Lopez was a layperson, this did not change the fact that Lopez still could have come forward with his "newly discovered" information at any time, and the State had no authority to withdraw the offer or vacate the plea. In light of the fact that Lopez had already been sentenced, without any threats or coercion from the State and without any requirement which prohibited Lopez from testifying on behalf of the Petitioner, Lopez could not have been afraid that his plea would be in jeopardy. As these allegations were refuted by the record, the Third District's holding did not misapply the law or conflict with *Foster* and *Peede*.

Next, the Petitioner alleges that the majority opinion in *Nordelo* conflicts with this Court's decision in *Jacobs*, 880 So. 2d at 549-55, which involved the summary denial of a 3.850 motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. Specifically, the Petitioner alleges that in *Nordelo*, the majority relied upon the

overwhelming evidence against the defendant. The Petitioner alleges that this was a "clear indication that the court reviewed not only the facial sufficiency of the claim itself, but also the record of the trial." (*See* Petitioner's Initial Brief at 9). Likewise, the Petitioner alleges that the evidence was insufficient to conclusively rebut his claim of newly discovered evidence. *Id*.

In *Jacobs*, this Court distinguished between post-conviction claims that are facially insufficient and those that are facially sufficient but are also conclusively refuted by the record. 880 So. 2d at 550-51. As to claims that are insufficient, this Court explained that "[i]t would logically follow that if no valid claim is alleged, the court may deny the motion outright, and the court need not examine the record." 880 So. 2d at 550. On the other hand, this Court explained that if the motion is facially sufficient, "the court may then review the record. If the record *conclusively* refutes the alleged claim, the claim may be denied. In doing so, the court is required to attach those portions of the record that conclusively refute the claim to its order of denial." *Id*.

In the instant case, as noted above, the majority in *Nordelo* cited to *Peede*, holding that in order "[t]o uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record." *Nordelo*, 47 So. 3d at 858. The Third District provided two separate and alternative reasons for upholding the summary denial. First, in explaining that

the Petitioner's claim was facially invalid, the majority referred to the affidavit, not the entire record, which was permissible under *Jacobs*. Specifically, the majority opinion stated, "the affidavit provides no information that neither Nordelo nor his counsel could have discovered at the time of trial through the exercise of due diligence." *Id*.

The alternative reason for affirmance was that the Petitioner's claim was conclusively refuted by the record. As indicated in *Jacobs*, such a finding requires a court to consider first the facial sufficiency of the motion. If a defendant's motion is facially sufficient, then a court may review the record for relevant portions which support a summary denial. In this case, the *Nordelo* court noted that there was overwhelming evidence in the record, including the fact that the victim had identified both defendants with one hundred percent certainty. Further, the credibility of the affidavit was suspect; Lopez claimed that he was the driver of the car in which he and the Petitioner had been stopped, while the record showed that the arresting officer testified – and the Petitioner had never disputed – that the Petitioner was driving at the time of his arrest. 47 So. 3d at 858. As the majority was permitted to consider the record under *Jacobs*, there was no conflict.

Finally, the Petitioner alleges that an evidentiary hearing should have been held to assess the credibility of Lopez's statements and that the failure to do so conflicted with this Court's decision in *Davis*, a case involving witness recantation.

In *Davis*, this Court explained that "[t]he determination of whether the statements are true and meet the due diligence and probability prongs of *Jones II* usually requires an evidentiary hearing to evaluate credibility *unless* the affidavit is inherently incredible or obviously immaterial to the verdict and sentence." 26 So. 3d at 527 (emphasis added). There, the post-conviction court erroneously struck a defendant's motion for failing to properly plead due diligence – i.e., failure to provide specific details about previous efforts undertaken to locate and interview witnesses and failure to provide an explanation as to why the witnesses would be difficult to locate when they resided in the defendant's home town. 26 So. 3d 528.

In the instant case, unlike *Davis*, the Petitioner's motion was not denied for a mere pleading deficiency; the majority in *Nordelo* noted that under the first prong of *Jones*, the evidence must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known of it by the use of diligence. Applying those standards to the facts of this case, the *Nordelo* court recognized that the affidavit could not have been newly discovered evidence because the information was either known to or easily discoverable by the Petitioner or his attorney; Lopez was never called as a witness; and the information could have been known by due diligence. As such, *Nordelo* was different from the recantation scenario in *Davis*; the affidavit was inherently incredible or immaterial to the verdict, and there was no conflict.

### **CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE,	the	State	respectfully	requests	this	Court	to	decline
discretionary jurisdiction	on.